1	IN THE SUPREME COU	JRT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA	
2			
3	DUSTIN BARRAL) CASE NUMBER: 6 ∉166 tronically File	ed
5	Appellant, vs.	(District Court Case No. 1620014)03:1 Tracie K. Linder Clerk of Suprem	I2 p.m ıan e Cour
7	THE STATE OF NEVADA,)	
8	Respondent.))	
10	APPELLAN	T'S OPENING BRIEF	
11	(APPEAL FROM JU	DGMENT OF CONVICTION)

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction to hear this case pursuant to NRAP 4 and NRS 177.015(3). The Appellant's Notice of Appeal was timely filed on September 27, 2013 after the Appellant's Judgment of Conviction was entered against him on September 23, 2013 based on a jury verdict on May 31, 2013. (See Appendix, hereinafter "App" at p. 45-46, 85-90, Volume I).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On or about August 29, 2011, the Appellant DUSTIN BARRAL (hereinafter "Appellant," "Dustin" or "Mr. Barral") was arraigned and charged by Information with Count I-SEXUAL ASSAULT WITH A MINOR UNDER FOURTEEN YEARS OF AGE (Category A Felony, NRS 200.364, 200.366) by digital vaginal penetration and Count II-SEXUAL ASSAULT WITH A MINOR UNDER FOURTEEN YEARS OF AGE (Category A Felony, NRS 200.364, 200.366) by digital anal penetration based on events occurring on or about July 10, 2010. (See App at p. 14-16, Volume I).

Following a three and a half day jury trial that commenced on May 28, 2013,

 the Appellant was found guilty of both of the above counts on May 31, 2013. (See App at p. 45-46, Volume I). The Appellant filed a Motion for Acquittal or in the Alternative a New Trial on June 7, 2013. (See App at p.47-59, Volume I). The State filed its reply on June 20, 2013. (See App at p.60-74, Volume I). The Defense filed a supplemental reply on June 28, 2013. (See App at p. 75-80, Volume I). Said motion was heard on July 8, 2013 and denied by the court below. (See App at p.83-84, Volume I). The Appellant was sentenced on September 18, 2013 and the Judgment of Conviction was entered on September 23, 2013. (See App at p.85-86, Volume I). The Notice of Appeal was filed on September 27, 2013. (See App at p.87-90, Volume I).

On January 28, 2014, Counsel for the Appellant filed a Motion for Extension of Time due to the length of the trial transcript and the complexity of the issues to be raised on appeal. (See App at p.91-94, Volume I). This Court granted the same. (See App at p.95, Volume I). On February 28, 2014, Counsel for the Appellant requested a second brief extension. (See App at p.96-99, Volume I). The Request for the same was granted. (See App at p.100, Volume I). This Opening Brief due on March 17, 2014 follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The State alleged in C269095 that the Appellant sexually assaulted his then four (4) year old niece J.C. as she slept on a futon couch while spending the night

 at his residence. Specifically, the State alleged that the Appellant came into the bedroom where J.C. was sleeping with her cousin Joshua Barral (hereinafter "Joshua") and dug into her vaginal and anal openings with his fingers. (*See* App at p.1-4, Volume I). J.C. had been spending the night at the Barral residence because her mother Nicole Hammonds had recently undergone surgery. (<u>Id.</u>).

Prior to trial commencing on May 28, 2013, the Appellant filed a Request for Admissibility of Prior Sexual Conduct. Three days before trial, the Defense was provided with nine pages of notes from J.C.'s therapist referencing multiple sessions in which J.C. describes sexually based contact with several individuals other than the Appellant. (*See* App at p.17-36, Volume I). The State filed its reply on May 29, 2013. (*See* App at p. 37-44, Volume I). The Court heard oral argument as to the same and summarily denied the Appellant's request on May 29, 2013 without the benefit of an evidentiary hearing. (*See* App at p.309-313, Volume IV).

On May 28, 2013, after voir dire had already started, Counsel approached the bench and reminded the Honorable Douglas Smith (hereinafter "the court" or "Judge Smith") that he had failed to swear in the jury venire. Further, Mr. Becker asked the court to admonish the jury to give truthful answers. The court refused, stating "I don't swear them in until the end." (See App at p.133-135, Volume I).

Over the course of two days of trial, several witnesses whom J.C. purportedly told the allegations to testified including Nicole Hammonds (J.C.'s mother), Joanna Hammonds (J.C.'s grandmother) and Megan Barral (the Appellant's then wife). (See App at p. 345-396, Volume II, App at p. 432-492, Volume II and App at p. 547-620, Volume III). J.C. also testified. (See App. at p. 415-431, Volume II). None of the above witnesses gave any clarification as to whether any sexual assault actually occurred other than to state that J.C. reported that Dustin "digged" into her privates. (Id.)

Dr. Sandra Cetl took the stand as a State's expert witness. She testified that there were no physical findings with the exception of a minor case of vaginitis which could have been caused by poor hygiene. (See App at p. 658, 661, 669, 672-673, Volume III).

Finally, Sergeant Timothy Hatchett (a former Las Vegas Metro Juvenile Sex Assault Detective) testified. Like the other witnesses, he was not able to provide any clarification as to what took place between the Appellant and J.C. other than to state that J.C. reported that Uncle Dustin was "digging in her private area." (See App at p.708, Volume III).

On May 31, 2013, following approximately three hours of deliberations, the

¹ Katherine Denny (J.C.'s Great Aunt) and Michael Hammonds (J.C.'s Uncle) also testified. However, neither had any first- hand knowledge of J.C.'s statements. (See App at p 492-505, Volume II and p.621-642, Volume III).

 jury returned a verdict of guilty as to all charges. (See App at p. 811-812, Volume IV).

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT BELOW ERRED BY FAILING TO SWEAR IN THE JURY VENIRE PRIOR TO COMMENCING VOIR DIRE

A new trial is required because the Appellant suffered a structural error during jury selection affecting his fundamental rights as the jury venire was never sworn in by the court below prior to voir dire commencing.

There are two classes of constitutional errors, "trial error" and "structural defects." Arizona v. Fulminante, 499 U.S. 279, 307–08, 309–10, 111 S.Ct. 1246, 113 L.Ed.2d 302 (1991). Trial errors are subject to harmless-error review because these errors "may ... be quantitatively assessed in the context of other evidence presented in order to determine whether [they were] harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." Fulminante, 499 U.S. at 307–08, 111 S.Ct. 1246. Conversely, "structural defects affect the framework within which the trial proceeds, rather than simply an error in the trial process itself." Id. at 309–10, 111 S.Ct. 1246. "Such errors are grounds for reversal because they "defy analysis by 'harmless-error' standards." Id. at 309, 111 S.Ct.1246.

NRS 16.030(5) regarding the drawing an examination of jurors and the oath or affirmation that must be conveyed says in relevant part:

Before persons whose names have been drawn are examined as to their qualifications to serve as jurors, the judge or the judge's clerk **shall** administer an oath or affirmation to them in substantially the following form (*emphasis added*):

Do you, and each of you, (solemnly swear, or affirm under the pains and penalties of perjury) that you will well and truly answer all questions put to you touching upon your qualifications to serve as jurors in the case now pending before this court (so help you God)?

After voir dire began, Lead Counsel Michael Becker noted that the swearing in had not occurred and asked to approach the bench to inform the court of the same. The following exchange took place:

Mr. Becker: My recollection may not be correct, but I think it's possible that the panel was not sworn in.

The Court: They aren't.

Mr. Becker: Okay.

The Court: I don't swear them in until the end.

Mr. Becker: Okay. In other words, admonish that they are to give truthful answers to all the questions.

The Court: We're just going to—I don't swear my jury in until they come

back from lunch. If -even if we break like tonight-

Mr Becker: Okay.

The Court: -- I won't swear them in.

Mr. Becker: Okay.

The Court: Because the ones who are sworn in; that's the panel.

Mr. Becker: Right.

The Court: And if somebody doesn't show up then we're stuck.

Ms. Fleck [prosecutor]: But we do have to give them the oath they have to tell the truth.

The Court: No.

(See App at p. 133-135, Volume I)(emphasis added).

Of significance is that prior to this exchange, the prosecutor expressed doubt as to juror number 7's claim that she could be impartial. (See App at p.131-133, 134. Volume I). Further, without being sworn in, other jurors were somewhat evasive in terms of whether or not they could be impartial. (See e.g. App at p.139-141, Volume I). During oral argument on the Appellant's Motion for a New Trial before the court below in which this same issue was raised, Judge Smith opined that it was standard practice in his court to not swear in the panel during the voir dire process. (See App at p. 820, Volume IV).

The Defense submits that the court's failure to swear in the jury venire in contradiction of statute constitutes a structural defect as it affected the very framework of the trial itself, namely the essential duty of the court to convey to juors the solemn necessity of telling the truth during voir dire.

Although the Nevada Supreme Court has not specifically ruled that errors in jury selection with regard to swearing in a jury are structural in nature, this Court has held in the context of <u>Batson</u> challenges that jury selection issues are structural in nature. *See* <u>Diomampo v. State</u>, 124 Nev. 414, 422-23, 185 P. 3d 1031 (2008) ("Discriminatory jury selection in violation of <u>Batson</u> constitutes structural error, or error that affects the framework of a trial"). Structural error necessitates automatic reversal because such error is "intrinsically harmful." <u>Cortinas v. State</u>, 124 Nev. 1013, 1024, 195 P.3d 315, 322 (2008).

Although not a neighboring jurisdiction, the Alabama courts have divided juror oath problems into two categories: "defective oath situations" and "no-oath situations". Treating a situation where the jury venire was administered an oath before voir dire but the petit jury was not administered an additional oath after it was empaneled as a "defective-oath situation", the court still acknowledged reversibility if "some objection was taken...during the progress of the trial, based on that [defect]." Ex parte Deramus, 721 So.2d 242 (Ala.1998). Additionally, in Fortner v. State of Alabama, 825 So.2d 876 (Ala.2001), the Alabama Supreme Court makes clear that the same analysis would apply in a scenario where the petit jury was administered the oath but the jury venire was not. (See also Brooks v. State, 845 So.2d 849 (Ala.Crim.App.2002).

Further, the Michigan Supreme Court in remanding a defendant for a new trial has recently held that the failure to swear in a jury panel is structural in nature because "the absence of a sworn jury renders the defendant's trial fundamentally unfair and is an unreliable vehicle for determining guilt or innocence...[and] seriously affects the fairness, integrity or public reputation of the judicial proceedings..." See People v. Allen, 299 Mich App 205, 829 NW 2d. 319 (2013) (emphasis added). While Allen dealt with the swearing in of the jury panel as opposed to the jury venire in the case at bar, the same principal applies, namely that "the required oath is not a mere formality which is required only by tradition. It represents a solemn promise on the part of each juror to do his duty according to the dictates of the law to see that justice is done." Id.

It is anticipated that the State will once again rely on the California case of People v. Carter, 117 P.3d 476, 36 Cal.4th 1114 (2005) for the proposition that if the jury understands that it was required to answer truthfully the questions posed, then failure to administer the oath is not prejudicial to a Defendant. (*See* App at p. 62, Volume I). The Appellant's case is easily distinguishable from Carter. In Carter, the Court relied on the fact that prior to the beginning of voir dire, jurors had been provided with a questionnaire that admonished them as to "the gravity of the matter before them and the importance of being truthful and thereby ameliorated at least in part the trial court's failure to timely administer the oath..."

Carter, 117 P. 3d at 518-519, 36 Cal. 4th at 1176-1177. The Carter Court concluded: "we believe the jury understood that it was required to answer truthfully the questions posed during the voir dire examination." In the case at bar, no such admonishment was ever given prior to commencing voir dire. (*See* App at p. 110-111, Volume I).

The present case clearly falls in the category of a "no oath situation." Further, the Appellant submits any juror, whether prospective or empanelled, has the same solemn responsibility to tell the truth which is ensured by the oath that is required by NRS 16.030(5). By failing to ensure that this was done, the court below committed a structural error by abrogating its duty to protect the Appellant's fundamental right to trial by an impartial juror because there was no guarantee that potential jurors felt obligated to give accurate and truthful responses.

Given that jury selection is a fundamental part of the trial process, it can hardly be argued that this error was not structural in nature. Accordingly, reversal is required.

II. THE COURT BELOW ERRED BY COMMENTING FROM THE BENCH HOW THE EVIDENCE SHOULD BE INTERPRETED BY THE JURY

The court below erred by improperly putting the prestige of the court behind what weight the jury should give to a witness's testimony.

This Court has wisely opined:

Firmly embedded in our tradition of even-handed justice-and indeed its very cornerstone-is the concept that the trial judge must, at all times, be and remain impartial. So deeply ingrained is this tradition that it is now well settled that the trial judge must not only be totally indifferent as between the parties, but he must also give the appearance of being so.

Kinna v. State, 84 Nev. 642, 646-647, 447 P.2d 32, 35 (1968) (emphasis added).

This Court has further stated that judges should be mindful of the influence that they wield noting in part:

[T]he average juror is a layman; the average layman looks with most profound respect to the presiding judge; and the jury is, as a rule, alert to any remark that will indicate favor or disfavor on the part of the trial judge. Human opinion is ofttimes formed upon circumstances meager and insignificant in their outward appearance; and the words and utterances of a trial judge, sitting with a jury in attendance, are liable, however unintentional, to mold the opinion of the members of the jury....

<u>Parodi v. Washoe Medical Ctr.</u>, 111 Nev. 365, 367-68, 892 P.2d 588, 589-90 (1995) (*emphasis added*).

Judicial misconduct must be preserved for judicial review and failure to object or assign misconduct will generally preclude review by this Court. <u>Oade v. State</u>, 114 Nev. 619, 621-22, 960 P. 2d 336, 338(1998). However, this Court has reviewed judicial misconduct, absent the appellant's failure to preserve adequately the issue for appeal, under the plain error doctrine. <u>Id</u>. at 369-70, 892 P.2d at 591.

In the present case, J.C. testified on cross-examination that family

members including her mother helped her "practice" what she was going to say in court. (See App p. 422-424, Volume II.). The State tried to clarify what J.C. meant by this statement by recalling her mother Nicole Hammonds to the stand. The following exchange then took place on cross-examination:

- Q. Well, did you also speak to Betsy Morgan?
- A. I would speak to her. Yes.
- Q. And were you aware that she had told Betsy that she was wanting to practice for testifying in court?
- A. No.
- Q. Are you aware that she testified that she practiced with you in the days leading up to testifying in court?

Ms. Edwards: I'd object, misstates the child's testimony.

The Court: Yeah. And I'm not sure if we could really elicit out of her what practice meant. If it was just coming into court—

Mr. Becker: Well-

The Court: Come and see a guy wearing a—

Mr. Becker: I'd say the record speaks for itself, Your Honor.

The Court: --black dress. And sitting up here seven years old, I would be nervous.

Mr. Becker: Your honor—

The Court: I'd want to-

Mr. Becker: I'm going to ask that the Court strike the statements as editorial from the bench.

The Court: This is my courtroom and [I] will editorialize when I feel it's necessary to control the courtroom. Thank you so much.

Mr. Becker: May I get a ruling on my objection?

The Court: Overruled.

(See App p. 646-647, Volume III)(emphasis added).

The above exchange demonstrates that the court below abandoned any semblance of impartiality by interjecting its opinion into what weight the jury should give to J.C.'s comments about what practicing meant. Given that the credibility of the named victim was the primary tool by which the jury had to measure whether to find the Appellant guilty, the court's comments were especially egregious because they belied the court's role as a neutral and encouraged the jury to find J.C.'s testimony credible. Accordingly, the actions of the court below prejudiced the Appellant's right to a fair trial and reversal is required.

III. THE COURT BELOW ERRED BY DISPARAGING DEFENSE COUNSEL IN THE PRESENCE OF THE JURY

The court below erred by repeatedly expressing impatience with Defense

Counsel throughout the course of the case. The errors cited below were clearly erroneous, cumulative, and had a prejudicial effect on the Appellant's case.

This Court has stated:

A judge may properly intervene in a trial of a case to promote expedition, and prevent unnecessary waste of time, or to clear up some obscurity, but he should bear in mind that his undue interference, impatience or participation in the examination of witnesses, * * * may tend to prevent the proper presentation of the cause, or the ascertainment of the truth in respect thereto.

Conversation between the judge and counsel in court is often necessary, but the judge should be studious to avoid controversies which are apt to obscure the merits of the dispute between litigants and lead to its unjust disposition. In addressing counsel, litigants or witnesses, he should avoid a controversial manner or tone.

Kinna v. State, 84 Nev. at 647, 447 P.2d at 35 (emphasis added).

This Court has also stated that:

Litigants who bear the brunt of trial levity promoted by trial judges are faced with a "Hobson's choice" of either objecting to the misconduct (with the attendant risks of antagonizing the judge and exasperating the jury), or refusing to assume the risks posed by such objections, thereby jeopardizing their right of appellate review. We are reluctant to fault appellants' counsel for choosing the latter option, particularly when the cumulative effect of the judge's conduct could not be known until after it became obvious that the judge would persist.

Parodi, 111 Nev. at 369, 892 P.2d at 591.

The <u>Parodi</u> Court went on to state that failure to object will not always preclude appellate review in instances where judicial deportment is of an inappropriate but non-egregious and repetitive nature that becomes prejudicial

when considered in its entirety. Id. at 370, 892 P. 2d at 591.

б

₿

The <u>Oade v. State</u> case is directly on point for this Court's consideration.

In <u>Oade</u>, the Court found that judicial misconduct had taken place when throughout the trial the district court judge repeatedly expressed his impatience with Oade's counsel in the presence of the jury. <u>Oade</u>, 114 Nev. at 623, 960 P.2d at 339. The Court went on to state: "It must be remembered that the words and utterances of a trial judge, sitting with a jury in attendance, are liable, however unintentional, to mold the opinion of the members of the jury to the extent that one or the other side of the controversy may be prejudiced or injured thereby." <u>Id.</u>

Like in <u>Oade</u>, judicial misconduct has taken place, as the Court below repeatedly expressed impatience and discourtesy towards Defense Counsel during the course of the trial as evidenced by the following examples:

1. During Voire Dire.

Mr. Becker: I'd approach. I'd ask to approach.

The Court: Okay. We approach a lot. We take—we im—we impose on the jury's time but go ahead. Let's try and cut this down.

[Bench conference begins]

Mr. Becker: Well, I don't like to make cause challenges in front of the juror's because it—I risk, you know, if I lose it, I alienate the juror...

(See App p. 142, Volume I) (emphasis added).

2. During direct examination of Michael Hammonds.

- Q. Did you encourage her (Megan Barral) one way or the other as far as her cooperation with the detective?
- A. Yeah, of course. I told her, you know, what's your concern about going to see him and hear his questions, you know?
- Q. And what did you find out as a result of that?

Mr. Castillo: Objection, calls for a hearsay response.

The Court: Calm down. Ask that question again please.

(See App p. 635, Volume III) (emphasis added).

3. During Direct Examination of Dr. Sandra Cetl

Q. And your Honor, I'm going to ask to go sidebar and it may be a good time to have an afternoon recess if we're going to have one.

The Court: Well, come up—approach the bench. And I'll control my courtroom; not you. Thank you.

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