#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

\_\_\_\_

Electronically Filed Jun 16 2014 04:21 p.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

DUSTIN BARRAL,

Appellant,

V.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 64135

#### RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

MICHAEL L. BECKER, ESQ. Nevada Bar #008765 MICHAEL V. CASTILLO, ESQ. Nevada Bar #011531 2300 W. Sahara Avenue, Suite 450 Las Vegas, Nevada 89102 (702) 331-2725 STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Appellant Dustin Barral was properly convicted of two counts of sexual assault with a minor under fourteen years of age because he digitally penetrated his four-year-old niece's vagina and anus. Barral fails to demonstrate any errors warranting relief and thus his conviction should be affirmed.

First, the district court did not commit structural error when it neglected to swear in the venire at the beginning of jury selection. Notably, Barral failed to preserve this issue for appeal and thus this Court should decline review. Notwithstanding, the alleged error does not fall into the limited class of structural errors. The empaneled jury was properly sworn at the start of the trial, and Barral does not allege, let alone demonstrate, that any of the empaneled jurors were biased or otherwise failed to properly perform their duties as jurors. Therefore, Barral fails

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The anatomical chart used during Detective Hatchett's interview of J.C. was admitted as State's Exhibit 3 at trial. 3 AA 712. At the beginning of the interview, Detective Hatchett used the chart in the context of taking a bath to ask J.C. to identify human anatomy to learn the language J.C. uses to describe body parts. 3 AA 696.

to demonstrate that the error affected the very framework of the trail and his claim should be denied.

Second, the district court did not improperly comment on J.C.'s testimony regarding her "practice" for trial. Earlier testimony demonstrated that, for J.C., "practice" only meant telling adults what happened and receiving reassurances in dealing with her nervousness about testifying in court and in front of the man who assaulted her. No one coached or otherwise told J.C. what to say. The court's comments were nothing more than an appropriate ruling on the State's objection to the defense's attempt to mislead the jury as to what J.C. had testified. Moreover, even if the court's comments somehow rose to the level of plain error, Barral failed to demonstrate that the error cause actual prejudice to his substantial rights and thus his claim warrants no relief.

Third, Barral failed to object to alleged judicial misconduct and thus this Court should decline to review that issue. Nevertheless, the district court did not improperly disparage the defense as Barral contends. The court reasonably maintained control of its courtroom and required the parties to be respectful and act with professionalism throughout the trial. Further, even if any of the court's statements with which Barral takes issue were improper, Barral failed to demonstrate that the error was plain and affected his substantial rights. Therefore, Barral's claim is without merit.

Fourth, the district court appropriately limited Barral's cross-examination of the victim because the evidence Barral sought to introduce was irrelevant. Most of the instances of alleged prior sexual contact occurred after the crimes in this case and thus could not have influenced J.C.'s testimony, testimony that was consistent with a recorded interview she gave to Detective Hatchett shortly after the crimes occurred. Moreover, none of the prior instances of alleged sexual contact Barral sought to introduce were actual sexual contact, certainly not in comparison to intercourse, fellatio, and genital fondling. Thus, the district court did not abuse its discretion when it precluded Barral from questioning J.C. in that regard.

Fifth, the state did not commit prosecutorial misconduct by misstating evidence. When Detective Hatchett inadvertently testified regarding matters the court had ruled inadmissible, and even then misstated the facts in the victim's recorded statement, the State simply attempted to redirect the focus from the inadmissible and misleading testimony and move on. The court properly overruled Barral's objection and the State proceeded as directed by the court. Further, during its rebuttal argument, the State did not misstate whether the baby monitor could have been turned down using the unit located in the baby's room, but rather argued simply that Barral could have manipulated the volume. Thus, the State did not misstate testimony. Notwithstanding, even if the State improperly questioned Detective

Hatchett or misstated the location of the baby monitor's volume control, any such error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt and thus is not a basis for a new trial.

Sixth, the district court properly denied Barral's motion for acquittal. The State presented sufficient evidence such that, if believed, any rational trier of fact would have found Barral guilty on both counts. The victim's testimony, prior statements to family members, and recorded interview with police all consistently demonstrate that Barral digitally penetrated J.C.'s vagina and anus. Thus, the State presented sufficient evidence to sustain the verdict and the district court correctly so ruled.

Seventh, the district court did not abuse its discretion when it denied Barral's motion for a new trial based on allegedly conflicting evidence. Barral failed to demonstrate any significant conflict in the evidence that undermined the jury's findings. Therefore, the district court acted well within its discretion when resolved any alleged conflicts in the evidence in the same manner as the jury and denied Barral's motion.

Lastly, Barral was not denied a fair trial based on alleged cumulative error. Notably, Barral failed to preserve for review several of the errors he alleges, and as he failed to demonstrate any error in the proceedings, there is nothing to cumulate. The State presented substantial evidence of Barral's guilt, and although his crimes were grave, the quality and character of the alleged errors does not warrant reversal.

Indeed, even assuming arguendo that Barral demonstrate some error occurred, such error, even if cumulated, was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

The jury properly convicted Barral of two counts of sexual assault for digitally penetrating his four-year-old niece. This Court should affirm.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I

# THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT COMMIT STRUCTURAL ERROR IN NEGLECTING TO ADMINISTER AN OATH TO PROSEPECTIVE JURORS.

Burral is not entitled to a new trial merely because the district court neglected to swear in the prospective jurors prior to voir dire. The actual jury panel was properly sworn at the start of trial, 2 AA 337, and Barral does not even allege, let alone demonstrate, that any members of the jury panel were biased or otherwise unqualified to perform their duty as jurors. There is simply no indication that Barral was denied a fair trial because the venire was not properly sworn and thus Barral's claim warrants no relief.

### A. Barral Waived this Issue when he Failed to Timely Object.

Barral waived the issue of the district court's failure to administer the oath to prospective jurors when he failed to properly object. The failure to object at trial precludes appellate review of the matter unless it rises to the level of plain error.

Mclellan v. State, 124 Nev. 263, 267, 182 P.3d 106, 109 (2008) (citing Anderson v. State, 121 Nev. 511, 516, 118 P.3d 184, 187 (2005)); see Green v. State, 119 Nev.

542, 545, 80 P.3d 93, 95 (2003) (stating failure to object to jury instruction generally precludes appellate review); see also NRS 178.602. Thus, "[w]hile this Court may, at times, review questions of constitutional dimension even in the absence of a proper objection, it will not do so unless the record is developed sufficiently both to demonstrate that fundamental rights are, in fact, implicated and to provide an adequate basis for review." Wilkins v. State, 96 Nev. 367, 372, 609 P.2d 309, 312 (1980).

Importantly, an objection at trial must be contemporaneous with the alleged error to properly preserve the issue for appeal. Maxey v. State, 94 Nev. 255, 256, 578 P.2d 751, 752 (1978). In Maxey, for example, appellant argued that the district court erred when it gave an allegedly improper jury instruction regarding circumstantial evidence during voir dire. Id., 578 P.2d at 752. This Court, however, ruled that appellant waived the alleged error because trial counsel failed to object to the instruction until after the jury was sworn and both sides had concluded opening statements. Id., 578 P.2d at 752. "Where, as here, appellant has knowledge of the misconduct, he must assert his right to a mistrial *immediately* or be deemed to have waived any alleged error." Id., 578 P.2d at 752 (emphasis added).

Here, Barral waived the issue of the district court's decision not to swear in the venire prior to voir dire when he failed to properly object. On the first day of trial, the court conducted general voir dire of the entire venire and then began to

question individual jurors, allowing each party to voir dire the individual jurors after the court. 1 AA 110-33. After the parties had each questioned one potential juror who was subsequently excused, Barral requested to approach the bench. 1 AA 133. At the bench conference, Barral did not object, but rather noted to the court that he could not remember if the venire had been sworn. 1 AA 133. The court responded that it does not administer the oath until the jury panel has been selected. 1 AA 134. Barral did not inform the court that NRS 16.030(5) requires the court to administer an oath to the venire, nor did Barral ever state that he objected to the manner in which the court was proceeding. 1 AA 133-35.<sup>4</sup> In fact, after the court provided its explanation for its procedure, Barral simply stated, "Okay." 1 AA 134. Barral never used the word "object" or implied that he objected, and instead stated that he merely wanted to bring it to the court's attention "[f]or what it's worth. . . . " 1 AA 134. Barral never requested a new venire or challenged the seated panel. Moreover, even if Barral's conduct could be construed as a proper objection, it was untimely because Barral did not object at the beginning of jury selection, and instead waited until jury selection had move all the way to individual voir dire before noting the issue. Therefore, Barral waived this issue when he failed to contemporaneously object and this Court should decline review.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> NRS 175.021 states that "[t]rial juries for criminal actions are formed in the same manner as trial juries in civil actions." Thus, NRS 16.030, which governs jury formation in civil trials, applies to jury formation in criminal trials.

# B. The District Court did not Commit Structural Error when it did not Administer an Oath to the Prospective Jurors.

Notwithstanding that Barral failed to preserve the issue for appeal, Barral makes no attempt to demonstrate that the error alleged amounts to plain error that affected Barral's substantial rights. Instead, Barral argues that the district court's failure to swear in the jury venire pursuant to NRS 16.030(5) amounts to structural error that automatically warrants a new trial. As explained below, no structural error occurred and Barral fails to provide any authority to demonstrate the contrary.

The United States Supreme Court has explained that most constitutional errors can be harmless. Neder v. United States, 527 U.S. 1, 8, 119 S.Ct. 1827, 1833 (1999) (internal quotations removed). ""[I]f the defendant had counsel and was tried by an impartial adjudicator, there is a strong presumption that any other [constitutional] errors that may have occurred are subject to harmless-error analysis." Id., 119 S.Ct. at 1833 (quoting Rose v. Clark, 478 U.S. 570, 579, 106 S.Ct. 3101 (1986)). "Structural errors" are only those errors that "affect the very framework in which the trial proceeds." Cortinas v. State, 124 Nev. 1013, 1024, 195 P.3d 315, 322 (2008) (citing Neder, 527 U.S. at 8, 119 S.Ct. at 1833) (internal quotations omitted). Further, "since most constitutional errors can be harmless, structural errors arise in only a very limited class of cases." Id., 195 P.3d at 322 (internal quotations omitted).

Jurisprudence regarding instructional error is informative as to the magnitude of error required to rise to the level of structural error. For example, this Court held

that an error is merely subject to harmless-error review unless it "[v]itiates all the jury's findings and produces consequences that are necessarily unquantifiable and indeterminate." <u>Id.</u>, 195 P.3d at 322 (internal quotations omitted). Indeed, the United States Supreme Court has only once found structural error in the jury instruction context. <u>Id.</u> at 1025, 195 P.3d at 323. In that case, <u>Sullivan v. Louisiana</u>, 508 U.S. 275, 277, 113 S.Ct. 2078, 2080 (1993), the trial court gave the jury a reasonable doubt instruction that was essentially the same instruction the Court expressly held was unconstitutional in <u>Cage v. Louisiana</u>, 498 U.S. 39, 111 S.Ct. 328 (1998). Further demonstrating the "limited class of cases" to which structural error applies, even omission of an element of the charge in a jury instruction is subject only to harmless-error review. Neder, 527 U.S. at 15, 119 S.Ct. at 1837.

Although this Court has not addressed the issue raised here, the California Supreme Court held that a trial court's failure to administer an oath of truthfulness to all prospective jurors at commencement of jury selection does not require reversal.

People v. Carter, 36 Cal.4th 1114, 1175, 117 P.3d 476, 517 (Cal. 2005), cert denied, 547 U.S. 1099, 126 S.Ct. 1881 (2006). There, just as Barral claims here, the defendant contended that the trial court's error in not administering the oath of truthfulness pursuant to California Code to two of the three groups of potential jurors was a "structural defect" that per se warranted reversal. Carter reasoned that,

. . . although empaneling one or more jurors who are actually biased against the defense would constitute

structural error, here the trial court's error in failing to swear some of the prospective jurors has not been shown to have resulted in the inclusion of any biased jurors on the panel, and defendant's claim of structural error fails for that reason.

<u>Id.</u> at 1176, 117 P.3d at 518 (emphasis added). That Court noted that there can be other indicia besides the oath that indicate the jurors understood the importance of truthfulness during voir dire, such as the admonition on a jury questionnaire completed before voir dire. <u>Id.</u> at 1176, 117 P.3d at 518.

Barral attempts to distinguish <u>Carter</u> by overemphasizing that Court's reliance on the jury questionnaire that admonished potential jurors to be truthful. While <u>Carter</u> indeed considered the questionnaire, it ultimately relied on the fact that the empaneled jurors were properly sworn and the defendant made no showing that he was prejudiced by the empaneled jury:

[T]he jury ultimately was instructed as to its duty to follow the trial court's instructions and was presumed to have performed its official duty, and defendant has failed to establish that he was prejudiced by the trial court's failure to administer the required oath at the outset of questioning some of the prospective jurors.

<u>Id.</u> at 1176-77, 117 P.3d at 518. Like the defendant in <u>Carter</u>, Barral has made no attempt to show that any empaneled jurors were biased or otherwise caused him prejudice and instead provides the bare allegation that "there was no guarantee that potential jurors felt obligated to give accurate and truthful responses." At no point did Barral object to the process, the panel, or any of the individual empaneled jurors.

Moreover, serving a similar purpose as the questionnaire in <u>Carter</u>, throughout the entire voir dire process, the court, the defense, and the State all emphasized the importance of telling the truth, the seriousness of the matter, and the importance of having jurors that can be fair to both sides. <u>See, e.g.,</u> 2-3 AA 114, 125, 130, 293. In fact, the defense thoroughly explained to the potential jurors at the outset of voir dire the importance of honesty and that they needed to express their real feelings as opposed to what they thought the court or the parties wanted to hear. 2 AA 130. There is simply no reason to doubt that the potential jurors did not understand their duty to answer truthfully, and as the impaneled jurors were sworn before trial began, there is simply no reason to doubt that the jurors followed the courts instructions and appropriately performed their duties as unbiased jurors.

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